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returned to his strength... But in all the days of his life, he was
careful that when he spent time with us absorbed in the depth and
profundity of halakhah, he would stop after three.or f?’l’.ll' hours and
say, ‘I mustn’t tax my brain excessively at one time. . )

In the Salanter Interview:, my father added, “Koidanover ha-
sidim, whose rebbe, a scion of the Zhelikhover rebbes, R’ Yisrael
Salanter must have strongly opposed, attributed R’ Yisrael’s stroke
to a curse their rebbe had imprecated upon him.” Our protagonist
was unaware of any particular run-in between the Salanter and the
rebbe, but could otherwise not comprehend why the hasidim wou%d
come up with such an explanation. “They said the curse Yvas laid
on R’ Yisrael when, during the cholera epidemic in Vilna in 5608-
5609 [end of 1848], he announced in the synagogue on Yom
Kippur morning [Shabbath, October 7, 1848] that everyone had to
break his fast,” my father said. “He proceeded to set a personal ex-
ample by making Kiddush on the bimah.” In BIS Talk my fatl'ler
described this Yom Kippur act somewhat differently and pin-
pointed where it happened, when he said, “Before the rea.ding of
the Torah, a goy brought a samovar of hot tea with glasses into the
Zarrecher Kloiz/, where R’ Yisrael davent. R’ Yisrael took a glass
of tea and summoned the congregation to follow suit.” In order to
reconcile the seeming contradiction between my father’s two depic-
tions of what R’ Yisrael did on that Yom Kippur morning, we
should understand the use of the word “Kiddush” as figurativey.
By saying the Salanter made Kiddush, our protagonist was simply
conveying that R’ Yisrael did not make any restrictions as to what
quantity of food the congregants were permitted to eat, nor as to
who was permitted, but nullified the fast fully. Furt.hermore, ?1-
though my father described the congregation and R’ Y1sra(?1 ejxphc—
itly as only drinking wine/tea, saying they made Kiddush 1/1;1t1mates
that they partook of a snack as well. In fact, Jacob M.ark quoted
below, mentions pieces of cake having been prepared in the syna-
gogues before the sacred day by R’ Yisrael’s order, and Etkes

I, Exc. B - p. 5 *Ch. 3, Exc. S. Also see fn. ¢, below. fct. ch. 4,n. 69. 9 mwn3 N
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Book! brings a source/ which has the Salanter eating cake (and
mentions no other food) when it states, “After Shaharith, R’ Yis-
rael took some baked goods, went up on the bimah, recited the
brakhah... and ate in front of everyone, so that everyone should see
and do the same.” Katz I* also relates, “R’ Yisrael brought out
wine and cakes, and made Kiddush and ate in front of the entire
congregation.” It is likely that in BIS Talk, when he described the
goy bringing in the hot tea, my father was also not intent on de-
scribing exactly how R’ Yisrael broke his fast, but was speaking
metaphorically. Our protagonist was pointing out that, besides
completely abrogating the fast by inviting everyone to drink tea,
the Salanter also had a goy do a melakhah Jorbidden on Yom
Kippur in preparing food for consumption — boiling up the tea —
something unmentioned in Katz. As to what R’ Yisrael actually did
to break the fast, my father may have agreed with Katz: he ate cake
and drank wine — and had some hot tea, too. It should be noted,
however, that the tradition Jacob Mark! records disagrees princi-
pally with my father’s depiction of the events, Jacob Mark states:
“R’ Yisrael arranged for announcements to appear throughout the
city that prayers would be shortened and worshipers should go out
for fresh air; he prepared in the shul vestibules skimpy pieces of
cake for contingencies; and, after Shaharith, he proclaimed that any-

one feeling faint was allowed to taste of the prepared cakes with-

out asking a doctor (emphasis added).” According to Jacob Mark,

the Yom Kippur fast was not nullified at all, because only special

people were given the dispensation to eat and there was a limit to

the amount of food they were allowed to ingest — those feeling

faint could only have a taste of a skimpy piece of cake. (According

to Jacob Martk, the first two items on R’ Yisrael’s agenda — the an-
nouncements throughout the city and the preparation of food —
were executed before the holiday with the approval of the Vilna
beth din; the third, his proclamation on Yom Kippur, he did on his
own and it met with the official Dayyan’s objection™.)

P. 183 / A75% 9 (authored by WP wrvw m Y9 and published in on »X35), p. 130.
Etkes Book considers the story told there a legend (see the sixth paragraph, below), while this
author supports his father’s tratlition (see the fifth paragraph, below). R Op. cit., Ch, 1, the last
paragraph of Exc. D: cf. pp. 159-161 and footnotes ad loc. as to the sources. (P, 76 ™ See
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Besides the details about this remarkable event set down in Katz
I, my father disclosed some interesting data in the Salanter Inter-
view that were later incorporated into R’ Geldwerth’s article” (and
attributed to our protagonist in note 19 of the article). The reports
as to what transpired on that Yom Kippur and in its wake were
transmitted to my father by R’ David Leibowitz°, who heard the
details from his granduncle, his maternal grandfather’s brother, the
Chafetz-Chaim, who was present in Vilna at the time of the
events; the Chafetz-Chaim’s father was one of the victims of the
epidemic, dying two weeks after that Yom Kippur, on Simhath
Torah. (According to the common assumption that the Chafetz-
Chaim died at the age of 94, he was less than 10 years old at the
time of the epidemic. But according to R’ Hayyim Kaniyevsky,
who personally heard from R’ Avraham-Yesha‘yahu Karelitz, the
Hazon-Ish, [as transmitted to this author by the Chafetz-Chaim’s
grandson R’ Hillel Zaks/] that the Chafetz-Chaim was 104 when
he died9, he was already 19 during the epidemic. The language of
a good wish expressed within the approbation of the Adereth to
the Chafetz-Chaim’s sepher mob7 wipb, given in 5656 (1896), also
implies that he was much older at the time than death at 94 would
have made him then. It reads, “vrawy v»> 7% 'n [May G-d extend
his days and years]” — an expression fitting for a man already old.
If he died at the age of 104, he was 67 at the time [while the
Adereth was 51], whereas otherwise he was only 58 years old in
5656 [1896]. Also cf. Shoshkes*, which describes the author’s ride
together with the Chafetz-Chaim, “already a “wpwwrvbx [little old
man]”, as he was being escorted by the important community
members and the lomdim of Bialystok to the railroad station some-
time in the latter part of the 5650’s [1890°s] — not at all an apt de-
scription of someone only between the ages of 58 and 62; accord-
ing to the Hazon-Ish’s computation, he was between 68 and 72.
[Shoshkes relates that the Chafetz-Chaim remained standing in the
buggy, and when the retinue did not cease begging him to sit

fn. 4 on pp. 1109-1110. * Cf. Ch. 3, Exc. S. °See Vol. 2. F Interview September 25, 1992
9 This is close to the age reported by the Jewish Telegraphic Agency at the time of his demise
(as per The CC, p. 793), i.e., 105. Also see footnote ad loc. * Op. cit, Ch. 1, n. 7 — pp.
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down, he replied that he couldn’t because he didn’t feel well. “But
later,” Shoshkes writes, “[my] uncle discovered the secret. The
Chafetz-Chaim did not want to sit on the cloth because of a suspi-
cion of sha‘atnez, but he did not want to tell it to his companions
so as not to embarrass them.” The Chafetz-Chaim’s evasive re-
sponse that he didn’t feel well is reminiscent of a story* about R’
Zvi-Hirsh, Maggid of Semyatich, who replied when he visited the
home of his master, the Gaon of Vilna, and found the disciples
eating and was invited by them to join in the meal, “The doctor
does not permit me to eat.” The Gaon immediately commented, “It
is true: the Rambam was a doctor too.” He understood that R* Zvi-
Hirsh had in mind the ruling of the Rambam that one is not per-
mitted to partake of a meal insufficient for its owners (mrxw nmvo
mYyay npoon)t] However, according to mw» 13 nwvm mosav, R
Yoseph-Shlomo Kahanneman, the Ponivezher Rav, reported that
he was present when the Chafetz-Chaim celebrated his 70th birth-
day — and that the celebrant put on a new garment in order to
make the shehehe’yanu brakhahv: the Ponivezher Rav was in
Radin in 5669 [1909], not 5659 [1899]. The Chafetz-Chaim was
therefore born in 5599 [1839], and less than 10 years old at the
time of the epidemic. Also cf. 5xw» 27y vx» 90%, which reports in
the name of R’ Sholom Gallai that the Chafetz-Chaim described
his experience of being present at his father’s passing when he
was a “young child [vyx 7%]” — a definition befitting a 10-year-
old, not a 19-year-old already married since the age of 17*. Based
on his error in 777224 that “it seems” the epidemic occurred in
5613 [end of 1852] rather than four years earlier when it actually
took place, the Chafetz-Chaim’s son, R’ Aryeh-Laib, miscalculates
and writes that his father was “close to 14 years of age” at the

265-266.  *n7awn nobn a2 [PYx N7 7, p. 51, article by JX9X 27 2977 “from his
forthcoming book w21 177 — pNa7” £ nawn mavam 977 975 “ Authored by 11X g
and published by n”?wn ,0%w1 ,0™A7%0 NRXIT - p. 3, n. 90 ¢ J13% ox J7wp3 poo W
ATIYO” ,aNY ,MIZD NTIVD DRI A0 9Y Y 0 TN 17 07wy evaw b avan by wennw
(".[T%W] Y3 92 %D VUMW J1am DYIAW-]AT T /DR [M¥H NTIVD X7 OX] pdnonY Wb oyaw-1a
¥ Op. cit.,, Ch. 2, Exc. B — p. 282 * According to The CC, p. 54, “he was fond of quoting the
verse JX¥3 T7IN NN 117 747 TOW QWY VAW 13 907 (At 17, Joseph was shepherding with his
brethren [2:1% nwRI3))), in the sense that he married at the age of 17 and left his parental
home to fend for himself. His widowed mother had remarried earlier. ¥ P. 2
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time. Once we correct the date of the epidemic, the Chafetz-
Chaim’s son, too, would agree that his father was only close to 10
then. Thus we have a corroboration from the Chafetz-Chaim’s own
son of his father’s age, and it conforms with the Ponivezher Rav’s
reminiscing. Also see the recently published volume, 7177 717 n1w?,
which reproduces a letter the Chafetz-Chaim wrote in 5686 [1926]
asking an acquaintance residing in Tel Aviv to acquire for him
“without publicity” papers for immigrating to Eretz Yisrael.
Therein, he gives the exact ages of himself and the five close fam-
ily members planning to move with him — his wife; his youngest
son, Aaron; his son-in-law R’ Mendel Zaks; his daughter
Rebbitzen Faigel Zaks; and their baby, Hirsh — declaring that he is
86 years old. It may of course be argued that 86 was the age listed
on his official Russian-Polish documents, though he was older.
But in view of the other corroborating sources listed above, we
should assume that 86 was his actual age at the time; thus the
Hazon-Ish’s opinion is overridden.)

We are left with a problem which my father did not address: on
what halakhic basis was R’ Yisrael able to waive the entire Yom
Kippur fast? The fast of Yom Kippur is not considered to have
been violated — with its violator punishable by extirpation (n73)
(or, if a beth din is available, by flogging [mp»]) in case of wan-
ton transgression, and by having to bring a sin offering (nxvn j27p)
in case of accidental transgression — unless a minimum quantity of
food or drink has been consumed. With regard to food, this mini-
mum quantity is slightly less than the volume of an average egg;
with regard to drink, it is a mouthful. Either quantity must be con-
sumed within four minutes’ time for a violation of the fast to have
been committed. This quantity is known in halakhic terminology
as a “myw (measure)”. Eating or drinking less than a “measure” is
also prohibited but is not punishable as above, nor is the fast con-
sidered broken. In the case of an individual faced with mortal
threat due to ill health, the rule is that if his life will not be more
endangered by restricting his food consumption to less than a

2 Op. cit., Ch. 3, the first paragraph of Exc. A — pp. 3377287  © Regarding these measures of
both volume and time, see ©”01 3”0 37N 0 W™ N”IX ¥"W.
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measure (1ywon minp), he is not permitted to eat a full measure’.
The problem therefore is why R’ Yisrael permitted the total abro-
gation of the fast when the nourishment needed to maintain the
public’s health could have been provided just as well through the
consumption of small snacks, each less than a measure and at more
than four-minute intervals, throughout the day. However, my fa-
ther’s action in Toronto exactly 90 years later, in 5638 (1938), de-
scribed below, will shed light on how our protagonist understood
R’ Yisrael Salanter’s ruling at the time of the epidemic in Vilna.
For the record, this author will set down a transcription of part
of the Salanter Interview (not included in the Geldwerth Article<)
which will reveal to the reader some repercussions of what our
protagonist described as a “world-shaking (nm%y vywm) deed”: “R’
Yisrael was a young rav [39 years of age] at the time amongst
other great rabbanim in Vilna. After Yom Kippur, he was called
in to the rabbinical court of the city and told, ‘We shall not enter
into a debate with you as to whether what you did was correct
halakhically or not. But you know that there is a beth din here;
you should have brought the question to us for discussion. Either
you would have convinced us that you were right and all of Vilna
would have eaten, or we would have convinced you that you were
not right. You acted improperly by not coming to us.’ My

£ See 170 m»n 7o M7IX ¥71w. There is a tradition that R’ Hayyim Soloveichik held that someone
already sick was permitted to eat a full forbidden measure, while someone merely liable to
contract a fatal illness by fasting was restricted to eating only /ess than a measure (YW MNd).
In the case of the cholera epidemic, even R’ Hayyim would have agreed that only 21¥°w>on mind
was permitted because the health concern was that the general public would become more
susceptible to catching cholera if people’s resistance to disease was weakened by fasting. Only
those who had cholera already — and would not have come to shul to get instructions on what
to do — were permitted to eat a full measure according to R’ Hayyim’s opinion. With modern
medical knowledge that a disease has an incubation period, R’ Hayyim might have permitted
everyone to eat a full forbidden measure during an epidemic because every person may be sick
already and unaware of it. But this information about disease was unknown at the beginning of
the 5600’s (middle of the 19th century CE.) and everyone in the Zarrecher Kloiz was considered
still healthy and only in danger of becoming ill. ¢ The narrative of what some hasidim believed
about the cause of R’ Yisrael’s stroke, mentioned on p. 1104, above, was not published in the
Geldwerth Article either. < Jacob Mark also claims that the Salanter was taken to task on Yom
Kippur itself by R’ Betzalel haKohen, the chief matz of Vilna (who was 10 years younger than
R’ Yisrael and had been appointed to the post five years earlier at the age of 23), for proclaiming
that faint individuals were permitted to eat without consulting a doctor. As soon as the Salanter
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father excused R’ Yisrael for failing to raise the question with the
official rabbinical court by quoting the Turs, to wit, 2% 3 Xy
77 man nwa ([Anyone desecrating the Sabbath to save a life] is not
required to get permission from the beth din) — although that
source seems to be referring to a problem that arises on Shabbath
itself. But it may well be that R’ Yisrael decided only on Yom
Kippur day that the situation was indeed grave, as per the itali-
cized part of the memoir of R’ Yitzhaq Lipkin quoted below, p.
1136.) “Thg, rabbanim concluded their admonishment by saying,
‘Actually, you deserve to be penalized. But rather than ruling on

descended from the bimah, R’ Betzalel went up and voiced his objection — not to R’ Yisrael’s
impropriety but to his halakhic ruling. Jacob Mark’s mistake may have stemmed from R’
Betzalel’s responsum addendum on pp. 64-3% of his 277793 77X, a volume published in Vilna
20 years after these events, in 5629 (1869), in which he writes, “Behold, because 1 am writing
this [responsum]” — it stretches from p. 44 to p. 92 — “close to Yom Kippur, I have therefore
deemed it proper to note here a matter of importance to every dangerously ill individual.” R’
haKohen goes on to discuss the exact measure of food and drink (1¥"W) of which the sick may
partake, and at what intervals. He then writes: “I see fit to mention what the Hatham-Sopher
writes in his responsum [373 0 D°vIP?%)] about relying on the [3pd ¥¥pn D] 8773X /32 even
on Yom Kippur.” The cited X¥71» writes — regarding fast days that are decreed by the beth din
for public catastrophes, such as enemy attack, pestilence, earthquake, wild animal attack, et al.
— that nowadays, a fast is not decreed on account of a pestilence “because we know from
experience that when one does not eat and drink, one absorbs a change of air (and endangers
his life)”. 0~ n7mw, responding on 16 Elul 5596 (August 29, 1836) to a query as to what to
do about fasting on the upcoming Yom Kippur if the current cholera epidemic continued, states,
“If the experts agree that fasting may be harmful, as the cited 5773~ /a2 rules, one should eat
less than a measure.” About this point, R’ Betzalel writes: “With the help of G-d, we must
disclose to everlasting generations [@%W M) this great phenomenon which happened three
times — which makes it an assumption [fp1n]: that to the thousands and myriads of men and
women who all fasted on Yom Kippur of the years 5592, 5609 and 5627 [1831, 1848, 1866] in
all our country, no harm, forfend, was done, and this was known almost in the whole world
then, and we have nothing more truly empirically proven than this [especially to all the people,
who were busy caring for those who were sick then, that on the fast day of Yom Kippur, no
one became ill, forfend, because of the fast (except those who did not take care then in their
eating and drinking and filled their stomachs with things harmful to their bodies on Erev Yom
Kippur then, and certainly on Morzoei Yom Kippur, when as is known, extra care is required)].
Therefore, regarding the four [general] fast days, then one may, forfend, rely on said &770x8 132
in this [though the 2;772X8 71 speaks (only) about occasional fasts which are not as stringent as
the four fixed fast days: Tzom Gedaliah, ‘Asarah beTeveth, Shiv'ah ‘Asar beTammuz and Tish'ah
beAv), but on Yom Kippur, forfend [7%°211] that we should combine and rely then, forfend, on
this £/773% 72» at all; and may G-d have compassion. on us.” Since R’ Betzalel haKohen was of
the “empirically proven” opinion that fasting was not dangerous even in times of epidemics, it
is little wonder that he was reported, many years later, by Jacob Mark to have totally disagreed
with R’ Yisrael’s ruling. (This author is indebted to R’ Avrohm-Abish Schor for this source —
see Ch. 4, the end of the second paragraph of Exc. T, above.) “n”sw 0 n”IR
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how to punish you, we will let you choose the punishment you
deem fitting.”” My father understood them to mean that R’ Yisrael
was respectfully invited to undertake “pwnn nawn (Balanced Pen-
ance, self-imposed suffering commensurate with the severity of
one’s sin)”. “And R’ Yisrael replied,” my father continued, “‘If
you are considering penalizing me, let me warn you that I will nul-
lify all the divorces the Vilna beth din has executed.” The Salanter
went on to explain, ‘“The Vilna berh din follows the get procedure
promulgated in swmww n2f, against which I have an argument that
you will be unable to refute.” R’ Yisrael posed his :argument,
which left the Vilna rabbinical court stumped ~ and he was acquit-
ted.” (His interviewer asked my father whether he knew what
question the Salanter had posed, and received a negative reply.)
By his argument, R’ Yisrael was certainly not questioning the an-
cestral purity of all the offspring of the women who, for two cen-
turies, had received their giffin in Vilna by the procedure ex-
pounded in ‘www. 7. Either R’ Yisrael knew the answer to his
question, which his interlocutors did not — or he trusted that the
author of 5w n72 was right despite whatever challenge there was.
The question was R’ Yisrael’s way of showing them that they
were not worthy of sitting as a tribunal to judge him; the Vilna
beth din understood this, and acquitted him. My father added that
R’ Baruch-Ber once delivered a shai‘ur — presumably, during our
protagonist’s years in Slabodkag — on the two sides of the question
of totally revoking the fast in the face of preservation of life (mp»»
wo1). R” Baruch-Ber’s exposition concluded that the Vilna berh din
had been right and R’ Yisrael, wrong.

An action — or better said, inaction — by my father when he as-
sumed his rabbinical post in Toronto in 5698 (1938) will reveal
his attitude toward a revocation of the fast in an analogous situa-
tion. He was asked prior to his first Yom Kippur as a major rav
in the city to publish an announcement in the daily Yiddish

f Thc_ author of this commentary on v 3R 71w AW was Rav of Furth (X77D), Germany.
He fhed in 5458 (1698), almost a century and a half prior to the described events. He was a
leading talmid of the greatest Torah teacher of his time, “the Rebbi” R’ Heschil of Cracow.
9 Cf. the penultimate paragraph of Ch. 3.2. ‘
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newspaper that the fast was not over till a certain hour. When he
asked why such an announcement was necessary, he was told tpat
there were many shuls in the city which had no rabbis to guide
their congregants, and they usually completed Services early. a.nd
broke the fast too soon. My father, however, refused to publicize
such a proclamation. He explained that among the thousands of
Jews who davent in such places there was surely at least one who
was not permitted to fast altogether. It is precisely because such a
person did not have a rav to turn to personally that h.e would en-
danger his life during the extra few minutes by which the sug-
gested public announcement would delay the close of Yom
Kippur. Therefore, the only way to keep that individual from fast-
ing those extra few minutes was by letting all the other, healtl?y
Jews break the fast early. He gave the example of someone in
mortal danger who refuses to eat unless a minyan of Jews eats
along with him. In this situation the entire minyan is allowed to
eat. (Cf. oo ;’5/7,75 that the Chafetz-Chaim refused to order a
wholesale ban on the employees of a cigarette factory in Grodno
which operated on the Sabbath, for the reason that “among the
hundreds of families, with their wives and children, there may be
a case of danger to life” if the breadwinner would stop working®.
Also cf. o77 nnnf that 12 days before his passing, R’ Hayyim
Soloveichik persuaded a young man in mortal danger to break his
Tish‘ah beAv fast by telling him that he himself would break his
fast too. The language, ibidem, indicates that R’ Hayyim was
breaking his own fast in order to get the young man to eat; it
may, however, be inaccurately worded, and R’ Hayyim may have
eaten because of his own ill health. Furthermore, the Tish‘ah
beAv fast is not as stringent as Yom Kippur.) It goes without say-
ing that it is the rav’s duty not only to make sure that people
who are able to fast do fast, but that people who are unable to

k Op. cit., Ch. 3, Exc. A — pp. 719-720 ! But cf. 271,737 22w» n”w (in MPWA 127 oNp,
following 13 °0), where the Neiziv totally rejects such a leniency (“°n* 39 'uv'x mx"h ’nnmx'w:
0" AWRD T 973w XNTPTIRT MoK 7am103 [1 was shocked to see a rabbi publicly permit a
Torah prohibition on account of feeding a wife and children]”). The author of o777 /7517,7 al.so
seems apologetic about the Chafetz-Chaim’s leniency — see the note ad loc., p. 720. / Op. cit.,
Ch. 2, the ninth paragraph of Exc. A — p. o1

NOTES AND EXCURSUSES 5.1(2) / EXCURSUS B #1113

fast do not. Cf. editor Alter Druyanov’s comment on Elzet* that
on the day before Yom Kippur the rav would visit the homes of
the dangerously ill, and the women who had recently given birth,
to order them not to fast and to teach them how to prepare their
food for the day in “less than a full measure (mywon mnp)”. My
father was thus fulfilling his rabbinic duty to the city of Toronto
by not inserting the announcement in the newspaper. Qur protag-
onist likely understood that R’ Yisrael Salanter’s abrogation of
the fast during the epidemic in Vilna was based on the same rea-
soning as his own refusal to publish the announcement in To-
ronto. Had R’ Yisrael merely proclaimed that whoever felt faint
should break his fast by eating less than a measure (my'wan nino)
(exactly as a sick individual is told to do) — as Jacob Mark posits
that he did - there were bound to have been among the multitude
of Jews in Vilna some simple, “pious” ones who would have kept
on fasting despite their faintness, thereby endangering their lives.
To overcome the “extra piety” of these individuals, the fast had
to be announced as abrogated for the entire community. (Regard-
ing my father’s fear of endangering Jewish lives in Toronto by re-
instating just the few minutes that the unlearned were cutting
from the end of their Yom Kippur, he related an episode that had
occurred in the Lithuanian city of Shavil. A man approached the
Matz a few minutes before the close of the fast day and said that
he did not feel well, and the Matz said, “Look, it’s just another
few minutes.” The man returned to his seat and dropped dead.
My father added that a rav — rather than a matz — would have
said, “Take a_drink immediately.”[) From his Toronto statement,
it seems that -our protagonist sided with R’ Yisrael’s ruling de-
spite R’ Baruch-Ber’s dissent.” The Chafetz-Chaim, who related

£ Op. cit., Prologue, n. 4 — p-352,n. 7 4 In connection with this, R’ David Zupnik related —
see fn. [ on p. 413 — that in the Mirrer Yeshiva, where the fervent N'illah Services stretched
into the night, the Rosh Yeshiva, R’ Laizer-Yudel Finkel, would walk down the aisles as soon
as Yom Kippur was halakhically over and tell those ralmidim whom he held to be weak to go
to their stantzias immediately and break their fast. If a student demurred, R’ Finkel would angrily
order him out of the beth midrash. ™ Xy 1503 LMEON DY TOMA X% Y Ny wr 1phy
AT DR 93P ’Y DA oAIovoPAD PYRW 2301 017 YY amIn MEY 1 XD Ry 2 (N PR
maban i 27D o7any Y O3 93p% Wwpnn DRImwAR 3 DR 31row “ana ' Sw
Y MR R7Y 37 9% ‘3 9 .70m3 M~ Yw 77 723 %750 17 P IYORY VnY naw
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the entire story of the events in Vilna, as above, also did not fault
R’ Yisrael Salanter for his actions. This is further indicated by
the Chafetz-Chaim’s high valuation of R’ Yisrael’s piety in later
years, as evidenced in /7m22”: The Chafetz-Chaim suffered from a
severe stomach ailment for many months in 5637 (1877). He was
in Vilna for medical care when R’ Yisrael happened to be in the
city visiting with his son-in-law R’ Elya-Laizer Grodnensky, R’
Chaim-Ozer Grodzensky’s father-in-law-to-be, and the Salanter
was told about the Chafetz-Chaim’s condition. The Chafetz-
Chaim subsequently attributed his lifelong cure to the Salanter’s
prayers on his behalfe. (Incidentally, the purity of the Vilna bet.h
din’s motives in rebuking R’ Yisrael Salanter may be proven — if
proof is needed — by virtue of the appointment of his son-in-law
R’ Grodnensky? to that body only eight years after these conten-
tious events.)

x4 has a version different from my father’s — and the
Chafetz-Chaim’s — of what transpired in the wake of R’ Yisrael’s
daring act, to wit: “When R’ Yisrael found out that many of the
older rabbanim were angry with him, he announced that he would
deliver a pilpul in the Great Synagogue. The lomdim assumed that
his exposition would propound a halakhic justification for his unu-
sual deed, and they all gathered to hear him. Instead, he delivered
a profound shai‘ur on another subject altogether, which surpassed
in acuity and virtuosity all the other pilpulim that he had presented
in Vilna until then. With this, all his opponents were silenced.” It
may be conjectured that R’ Yisrael deliberately chose not to dis-
cuss the halakhic aspect of what he had done on Yom Kippur be-

R A3 RMYW WITDI 1191 TIHYY AWW TN P7R M IND I7ATT Aww I T 317 ARen 2py
,79 7Y WOND DX M XYW ML 70 ORAw 1773 PIEA TIWYW AYR PTRbng v o a1
WYY DRIIPA ID0N AT WY AYYI2 AMNA NRTMP NN PRI 43w ADIPRI AT 0 O
WP Y “ARPD” DO DY 7Y ,pIT NN PR 722 AWW 1THY XMWY YW IR X3 pY ORY
DMXNA PPN IIPIWw) YTand anR AT 299D Dwn 37Ar 2wab M) H7I5 XY 90 Yy anon
NN 3 DRMpA ‘on 7y AR 12RO APRWA DR AU AN (MDD DPR 7N 0913 1IN DX
PRILNR AT IR A2 297 DKD T7ETR 030X ARTY) PN P Y pren Yo A on Yw
Hwn T2 D YT YR 1 npInm DR WA YT Y L [17RWR DR pip 277 T0I8)
(.”ONYW3 7RI 0M2%H Wsn XYW Yanw” 1wy yanw ik "P. 22 ° Also cf. nnsd, p.
16, on how highly R’ Yisrael thought of the Chafetz-Chaim, as quoted above in Ch. 3, Exc. A
(p. 346). P See Kaiz Il (op. cit., Ch. 2, n. 17), p. 424-426 49 Op. cit., Ch. 3, Exc. B ~ p. vo"
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cause he did not want people who had eaten because of his an-
nouncement to feel that what they had done needed justification.
R’ Yisrael’s rebuttal of the Vilna beth din, both according to
author of ¥~ R’ Weinberg’s version and my father’s, is a fine
demonstration of the Salanter’s legendary greatness in Torah. Also
cf. The CC* for the Chafetz-Chaim’s estimation of R’ Yisrael’s
greatness. On many occasions, including during the Salanter Inter-
view, my father repeated R’ Yoseph-Ber Soloveitchik’s testimony *
that his grandfather R’ Hayyim considered “four scholars of
(his) day to be quasi-(pyn-)Rishonim”t. The four greats were:
R’ Yehoshua‘-Laib Diskin“ (5577-5658 [end of 1816-1898]):
R’ Meir-Laibush Weiser (the Malbim, 5569-5640 [1809-end of
1879]); R’ Hayyim’s father, R’ Yosheh-Ber Soloveichikv; and R’
Yisrael Salanterw. Also cf. 7oz »7w, Vol. III*, which also quotes
R’ Yoseph-Ber in regard to R’ Hayyim’s esteem of the four, but
switches the relative places of the Malbim and R’ Yisrael, as does
HagMaly — which elevates the Salanter even higher=.

*Pp. 419ff. *Cf. Vol. 3. ‘In BIS Talk, my father used the weaker expression, viz., “who
were higher than the generation”. This phrase is also used by 7w Rn 7wn 277 on the first
page of the introduction to his (0"Ywnn ,0%wTr T NR¥IM) 0o 78377 (further: HagMal),
where he recounts hearing about R’ Hayyim’s assessment of these four scholars “when studying
in Brisk under R’ Elchonon Wasserman”. “ Ch. 3,n. 16 YCh. 3, Exe. H *“ Ch. 3, Exc. A
© Authored by Pmw YR 2973 (no publication year stated) — p. 167 J Fn. £, above, ibid. * 710
A2IN7 also claims, in R’ Yoseph-Ber’'s name, that another great scholar, R’ El‘azar-Moshe
Horwitz of Pinsk (Ch. 3, Exc. F) (5578-5650 [1818-1890]), was added by R’ Hayyim to the four
“as an optional fifth”, and, in my father’s name, that R’ Hayyim stated that R’ El‘azar-Moshe
is the only one whom he entitles “doyen of the geonim (MR 121)”. My father’s report on this
is problematic because a question arises: how could R’ El‘azar-Moshe, being only an oprional
quasi-Rishon at most, be the doyen of the geonim? Insofar as R’ Yisrael Salanter and the Malbim,
we have no problem; because they died before R’ El‘azar-Moshe, and the D°2IX37 1p7 title may
have been bestowed on the Pinsker Rav by R’ Hayyim after they had left the world. Insofar as
R’ Diskin there is also no problem because he was so superior to the other geonim of the
generation that the title X371 |1 was too slight for him. R’ Diskin, the first of the four greats,
was described by R’ Hayyim, according to ox Ty (op. cit, Ch. 3, n. 16), p. 7¥p, as one
“whose titles begin where the appellations of all the other great scholars peak”, and according
to the footnote on p. 1971 of 277 7171, as one who “would have been considered a ‘gaon in
Israel’ even if he had lived in the time of R’ Moshe Isserls, the Rama (b. 5280 or 5290 [1520
or 1530], d. 5332 [1572])". We are left, however, with the question in regard to R’ Yosheh-Ber,
R’ Hayyim Soloveichik’s father, who outlived R’ El‘azar-Moshe. At the interview with R’ Zelig
Epstein cited at the beginning of this paragraph, on p. 1098, the interviewee said he had “gathered
from many sources that R’ Hayyim considered the Malbim the greatest mind of the generation”.
This is consistent with the great expectations his generation had for the Malbim, as R’ Yisrael



#1116% Making of a Godol

Incidentally, according to an eyewitness, when relating to our
protagonist what R’ Hayyim’s estimation of the Salanter was, R’
Yoseph-Ber remarked that he did not understand why his grandfa-
ther had included R’ Yisrael among such giants. My father
brushed this comment aside with the retort, “It seems that R’
Hayyim knew R’ Yisrael [yoxw» ~ vivpya vxn].¢” R’ Meshulam-
David Soloveichik’ stated that he had heard “yet in Brisk” that R’
Hayyim had described the Salanter in superlative terms, saying,
“R’ Yisrael Salanter’s mind had the sanctity of tephillin [nwrip
r»on].” R Hayyim was likely referring to the Rambam’s defini-
tion of the sanctity of tephillin¢ and inferring that R’ Yisrael auto-
matically exuded “p%1 nnx »am oow nxv ,mwy (humility, Fear of
G-d, and words of truth and justice)” and dissipated “nmw ,pinw
my1 n1awns 77w (frivolity, idle talk and evil thoughts)” in his sur-
roundings, i.e., in everyone who had contact with him. Also cf.
EdStd where R’ Baruch-Ber is quoted as saying, “The rebbi [R’
Hayyim] trembled when he mentioned R’ Yisrael.” Obviously, R’
Yoseph-Ber was unaware of these traditions. For our protagonist’s
own evaluation of the Salanter, cf. Ch. 3, the end of n. 51. (Also

Salanter himself expressed — see below. In order to bring out the greatness of the Malbim’s mind,
my father told R’ David Cymet — see the beginning of this excursus — that R’ Yisrael Salanter
eulogized Reb Nahumkeh Horodner (see Ch. 4, n. 7) and said, “A Malbim — not everyone can
be a gaon like him; but a R’ Nahumkeh, every Jew has the capabilities to become.” This
indicated to our protagonist that in R’ Yisrael’s view, the Malbim’s mind.was at the peak of
cerebral brilliance. Also cf. haRishon (op. cit., Ch. 1, Exc. F), p. 26, which claims “it is told”
that R’ Hayyim listed the three greatest “mni *p7n (keen minds)” of the generation — R’ Yisrael
Salanter, R’ Yehoshua‘-Laib Diskin, and his father — omitting the Malbim altogether and in an
order that elevates R’ Yisrael to first place. (In view of the sources in wX 79y and 2777 n1n
about R’ Diskin, haRishon must have been careless about the order, but it makes R’ Epstein’s
statement about the Malbim moot.) Also cf. Brisk Anecdotes, ®"n, p. °p, which, in the name of
R’ Meshulam-David Soloveichik, also has his grandfather R’ Hayyim omitting the Malbim in
listing “the only true greats” in the preceding generation. Likewise does the report in Melrzer
Book, p. 576, omit the Malbim when quoting R’ Velvalleh Soloveichik as saying, “When R’
Yisrael Salanter, R’ Yehoshua‘-Laib Diskin, my grandfather R’ Yosheh-Ber, and my father, R’
Hayyim, died, a darkness descended on the world but some light still remained. Now that R’
Isser-Zalman Meltzer has passed away, nothing of the light is left.” R’ Velvalleh may have
omitted the Malbim because he was speaking about “the light” of halakhic study — which the
Mualbim, despite his superior mind, consigned to second place in his scholarly research, as R’
Eyzil Shapira, R’ Ruvalleh Denneburger and R’ Lipalleh Mirrer (quoted just below) pointed out.
(The high regard for R’ Isser-Zalman evinced by R’ Velvalleh was reciprocal — see the top of
p. 1207. ¢ Our protagonist intimated that the speaker did not know the Salanter! 4 Interview
January 13, 1997 € The following citations are from 7731 775 79"on n3%a o737, < Op. cit.,
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cf. mawr7 waxe about a mystical story concerning R’ Hayyim
Volozhiner which was related by R’ Elya Lopian, “who had heard
it from R’ Hirsh Broida, who had heard it from his father-in-law,
R’ Simhah-Zissel Ziv, who had heard it from R’ Yisrael Salanter,
who had heard it from his master R’ Zundel, who had heard it di-
rectly from R’ Hayyim”. When it was repeated with its sources to
R’ Velvalleh Soloveichik, he stopped the narrator as soon as the
tradition went back to R’ Yisrael Salanter and said, “Enough! It is
sufficient: ‘One does not check the purity of yikhus beyond [an an-
cestor who was allowed to serve on] the altar [n:m]f’,” meaning
that once’a statement had been made by R’ Yisrael there was no
need to check its veracity any further.)

It is also noteworthy that two of the four listed greats dedicated
the major part of their effort/intellect to fighting the Haskalah/
Reform: R’ Yisrael Salanter and the Malbim. In regard to the
Malbim’s magnum opus on Tnakh, authored as a weapon in the
war against the German-conceived science of Bible criticism (rpa
xpnn), R’ Eyzil Shapira (Slonimer) said wittily 9, “It is our good
fortune that the Malbim chose to occupy himself with his com-
mentary on Tnakh, because now we are still able to hold up our
heads in his presence [in the area of Shas and posqim].” It is also
said that when R’ Yisrael Salanter met his coeval the Malbim af-
ter a long absence, the former cried out, “Our dear R’ Meir-
Laibush, what happened to you? You had been our hope that our
generation would have a gadol like the Gra‘ in his time!” R’ Yis-
rael seems to have meant that the Malbim’s putting aside the Tal-
mud and dedécating himself to Trnakh was a major disappointment
for Klal Yisrtel — and even the Salanter, for whom concern with
the Haskalah was paramount, as above, was disillusioned. Also cf.
ann v mewwf that when the Malbim began his commentary on
Tnakh, he was visited by R’ Ruvalleh Denneburger5 and R’

Ch. 2, E)Zc. F-p.7p “Op.cit, Ch. 1,n. 7 - p. 372 f Per R"Y V'Y POYR Y HagMal
p. bp Ibid., p. 7, in the name of R’ Yehiel-Mordkhai Gordon, who heard it from his,
father-in-law, R’ Laizer Shullevitz — see Ch. 3, the third paragraph of Exc. D, that R’ Laizer
had the unique opportunity to converse with R’ Yisrael. ¢ Cf. the second paraéraph of Exc. J
above, that in his youth R’, Yisrael expected himself to become a second Gra. / Op. cit. .Ch,
2, n. 10 - pp. ay-xy k See the fourth paragraph of Exc. F, below. C
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Lipalleh Mirrer, who tried to persuade him to continue inst?ad
with his ingenious commentary on the Shulhan ‘Arukh — the first
volume of which, o777 myw, he had authored at the age of 18 ar'ld
published 10 years later. He told them, “[My] work [on the W.I‘lt-
ten Law (anoaw nmn)] is the need of the hour due to the condition
of the generation — so as to draw the general public to the w.ay of
the traditions of Torah and to assure that they not be caught in the
nets of the infectious Haskalah. Only if you two do my work on
anoaw #amn will 1 return to writing o777 myw.” There is a legend,
however, that “explains” why the Malbim was unable to write on
matters of halakhah, and only on Tnakh. At the age of 26, when
he intended to publish his o777 myw, he visited many gedolim to
get their haskamoth, among them R’ ‘Aqiva Eiger in Po.sen anq R’
Moshe Sopher, the Hatham-Sopher, in Pressburg. In his meetings
with these two great scholars, he committed two actions which, ac-
cording to lore, affected his entire life negatively. During his visit
with R’ Eiger, the Malbim asked his host for smikhah. After
lengthy Torah discussions with the brilliant Malbim, and after re-
viewing his awesome manuscript, the old and humble sage de-
clared that his guest already had enough knowledge to replace him
as the rav in Posen and told the young man to sit down in the rab-
binical seat’. The latter did not hesitate and sat down in R’ ‘Aqgiva
Eiger’s seat! Legend has it that due to this faux pas the Malbim
suffered persecution throughout his lifetime™ and had to wander

Ui is possible that R’ Eiger wanted to prove the sincerity of his declaration by actuating 'il
demonstratively. But it is more likely that the Malbim, having spent his childhood and youth in
his native Vlochisk and Warsaw, where Polish Yiddish was spoken, simply misunderstood R’
‘Aqiva Eiger’s German Yiddish and thought the old gaon was ordering him to take. his seat.
Three years later, when R’ ‘Agiva Eiger passed away, the Malbim, so young and wx‘t‘hout any
rabbinical experience, applied for the position honored by the world-famous gaon — “almost a
Rishon” according to R’ Hayyim Soloveichik (see Ch. 4, Exc. P). 222527, by 'm’?::m nm
(M"pwn oYW PP 370 7o) (elsewhere: haMalbim), to which this author is indebted fo,x,"
much of the information about the Malbim, indicates surprise at his “pretentiousness (N3

in submitting his candidacy (p. 27). The declaration by R’ ‘Agiva Eiger that he was capable of
occupying the rabbinic seat of Posen might have encouraged the young scholar- to Ymake tht’t
attempt. His candidacy was turned down, however, and the city chose R’ ‘Aqnia I?lger s'son, R

Shlomo, 24 years older (almost double the Malbim’s age at the tirr‘le o'f R’ ‘Agiva’s demise) and
serving as Rav of Kalish, to succeed his father. ™ This story with its sad result was reported
in my father’s name by R’ Daniel Levy on July 19, 2001.
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from country to country and from one post to another — from Rayv
of Wreschen, in Prussia (45 kilometers east of Posen), to Rav of
Kempen (where he began his in-depth study of Tnakh), to Rav of
Bucharest, to a hiatus in Paris”, to Rav of Kherson, in the Ukraine,
to Rav of Lenchitz, in Poland, to Rav of Mohilov, in Belorussia, to
rav for the Lithuanian and Polish immigrant community in
Konigsberg, Prussia. He died in Kiev while on the way to yet a
new post, Rav of Kremenchug, in the Ukraine. R’ Eiger, who re-
frained generally from issuing haskamoth, gave his guest a letter in
which he discussed some halakhic matters the young author had
written about. The Malbim’s other thoughtless action occurred on a
late Sabbath afternoon when he sat down, inadvertently this time,
in the Hatham-Sopher’s seat, whereupon his host told him to “re-
main in (his) place”. From then on he felt that he could not ad-
vance in halakhic studies: he remained in his Place scholasticallye.

" There he contributed articles to the Orthodox mouthpiece, 113%7 (see Ch. 2, the end of the
twelfth paragraph of Exc. A), and, surprisingly, also won the admiration of the maskil Senior
Sachs (see Ch. 4, Exc. H). ° The story as my father told it — according to “Florida” (Ch. 1,
n. 71) — appears in Reb Yaakov (op. cit., Foreword), p. 196, and in 2¥? 237 (op. cit., ibidem),
pp. 260-261. A version slightly different from both published ones was reported by R’ Osher
Katzman in “Florida”, and this author also recalls hearing the story from his father with yet
another slight alteration. Besides these four versions originating with my father, another two
versions appear in two publications in the name of R’ Yoseph-Ber Soloveitchik, one in 2771 w53
(op. cit., Ch. 3, Exc. ), pp. 2:9"X3, and the other in HagMal, pp. 1311, (Like R’ Moshe-Meir
Yoshor, the author of HagMal, my father might also have heard this story from R’ Soloveitchik
[as he did about the four quasi-Rishonim, the Malbim among them] but because of the
differences, enumerated below, between all four of the versions attributed to my father and the
two attributed to R’ Yoseph-Ber, and especially because of my father’s additional and related
tale of the Malbim’s meeting with R’ ‘Aqiva Eiger, it is quite obvious that my father heard the
story of the Malbim-Hatham-Sopher blunder elsewhere.) Numbering the six versions in order of
their mention aboye, this author will point out the differences among them in three aspects of
the story: #1 — when it occurred; #2 — what caused the Malbim’s error; #3 — to whom the
Hatham-Sopher said his fateful words. Item #1: according to versions 1, 2 and 3, the mishap
occurred before Minhah in the wake of the Malbim’s delivery of a three-hour drashah in the
main synagogue; according to version 4, it happened after the delivery of the long drashah, but
before ‘Arvith; according to versions 5 and 6. it happened before ‘Arvith, but there was no
drashah ~ only a long day of Torah discussions between the two Torah giants at the Hatham-
Sopher’s home. Item #2: according to versions 1 and 3, the Malbim was still so preoccupied
with his pilpul after coming down from the bimah that he failed to take note of where he sat
down; according to version 2, he was so weak from his long discourse that he did not have the
strength to pay attention to where he found a seat, and once he was seated, he floated away in
thought; according to version 4, since the drashah had been delivered after Minhah and ended
when it was dusk already, the darkness caused the Malbim’s mistake (and lasted until a goy
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The Malbim’s disengagement from the halakhic parts of Torah
went so far that, despite his having to rule on questions of Jewish

came to kindle the shul’s lamps); according to version 5, the Torah discussions concluded as the
dark was setting in, and (like version 4) darkness was the cause of the Malbim’s error “as he
sat down in the rav’s seat next to the one he had occupied throughout the Sabbath”; according
to version 6, the Malbim was wont to spend the dusk of the Sabbath in seclusive introspection,
and after “walking alone to the synagogue with all his threads of thoughts focused on the Upper
Spheres”, he failed to notice that he was not in his own seat but in the one next to it, the rav’s.
Item #3: according to version 1, when the Malbim did not notice that the rav had come and was
standing at his side, the Hatham-Sopher spoke up and told him directly, “Young man, remain
in your place”; according to versions 2 and 4, when the Malbim finally noticed the rav standing
over him - either because he had by now focused his thoughts on his surroundings, or because
the s/l bad become light — and jumped up to move to his own seat, the Hatham-Sopher spoke
up as he did; according to version 3, the shamosh who had escorted the rav to shul asked the
Hatham-Sopher whether he should tell the young man to move over, and the Hatham-Sopher
replied (in third person), “Let him remain in his place”; according to version 5, one of the
ba‘allebatim told the Malbim that he was sitting in the wrong seat, but the latter did not grasp
that he was being spoken to, and only when the Hatham-Sopher told the ba‘allebos, “Let him
remain in his place,” did the Malbim realize what was happening; according to version 6, the
ba'allebatim wanted to arouse the Malbim from his reverie and tell him to move over, but the
Hatham-Sopher did not let them and made his fateful declaration to them, and when the Malbim
came to and apologized for taking the rav’s place, the Hatham-Sopher told him exactly what
had transpired between himself and his ba ‘allebatim, including that he had told them “to let him
remain in his place”. (None of the versions say if the Malbim actually remained sitting in the
Hatham-Sopher’s place after being told to do so. After what had happened in his encounter with
R” *Agiva Eiger, one is left to wonder about this.) As is recorded in Reb Yaakov and 3py’ 239,
my father added that “for the rest of his life, the Malbim isolated himself at Minhah time on
Shabbos and became soaked with sweat brought on by the terror of the Hatham-Sopher’s words”;
according to HagMal, the Malbim had adopted the habit of isolating himself at Sabbath Minhah
time before his encounter with the Hatham-Sopher, and that was what had brought on the
debacle. Perhaps this time of the week had been only a time of introspection for the Malbim,
and after the Pressburg incident it turned into a time of terror, too. There would seem to be a
problem with my father’s version that the Malbim delivered a pilpul in the main shul in
Pressburg: Since the Hatham-Sopher’s approbation is dated 12 Tishri 5595 (Wednesday, October
15, 1834) and the Malbim had spent Rosh Hashanah in Nicholsburg and received the haskamah
of its rav, R* Nahum Travish, on the day after the holiday, the Sabbath he spent in Pressburg
was necessarily Shabbath Shuvah — surely the Rav addressed the community then, not his guest.
The resolution is that the Malbim remained in Pressburg after the date of his host’s approbation
and the incident took place after he had received the haskamah already, either a Yom Tov
Sabbath, the first day of Sukkoth or Shmini ‘Atzereth, or on Shabbath Braishith, 29 Tishri 5595
(November 1, 1834). This is supported by the text of the Hatham-Sopher’s haskamah on n¥Ix
77777, in which he apologizes for giving it before spending more time with the petitioner. He
writes, “The city’s needs are many in these holy days. If I had not seen the testimony of the
greats of Israel [who have already given their approbations, I would not have been able to give
mine]... and 1 had intended to spend some more entertaining days with him [vay ywyw5]. [But]
then the days of the Holy Yom Tov Sukkoth will arrive and afterwards [come] the autumn days
[when] the road is distant. Therefore 1 said, Let the part [which I have gone over] testify on the
whole [sepher].” (He goes on to laud the special method 277777 n1¥Ix applies in reaching
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law in connection with his rabbinical posts and in responsa to que-
ries directed to him by mail, he avoided “speaking in learning”.
HagMalF relates that the Malbim happened to come to Petersburg
and a “great Polish Torah individual” came there “from a great
distance” to “speak in learning” and help him to “resolve several
difficult halakhic questions he had”. The Malbim turned him
down, saying, that “personal preoccupations prevented (him) from
delving into halakhic matters, but since (he was) heavily involved
in the study of Tnakh, (he was) ready to speak to (him) on any
Biblical subject of (his) choice — but not in Talmudic discourse”.
The visitor’s insistence on “speaking in learning” was to no avail
until he pulled out of his pocket a letter written by R’ ‘Agiva
Eiger to his father, and said, “My father was acquainted with R’
Eiger after having met him when the latter came to Lomzha for his
son’s wedding” — see Ch. 3, n. 10. “Before R’ ‘Aqiva Eiger left,
my father asked him to pray that he be blessed with a son, and
when the gaon returned home, he wrote this letter to my father:
the rav’s blessing was intended for my birth. Only if you will con-
sent to ‘speak in learning’ with me will I show you this letter.”
Now the Malbim’s pleadings to see the letter were to no avail —
and he submitted to having a Talmudic discussion with his visitor.
When the Malbim was shown the letter, he said, “This is indeed
R’ ‘Aqiva Eiger’s handwriting,” and kissed it.

My father told R’ David Cymet9 that R’ Yisrael’s hurried de-
parture from Vilna not long after the Yom Kippur episode was a
direct result of the acrimony with the beth din. My father disa-
greed with the generally accepted version put forth in Karz I* and
quoted from early sources in Etkes Book* that R’ Yisrael left Vilna
because of the attempt of the maskilim to compel him through
Russian government officialdom to teach at the Rabbinical Semi-
nary established relatively not long prior to the epidemict. It is

conclusions “close to the Truth of Torah”.) The wording indicates that the Malbim intended to
remain in the city at least till after Sukkoth — but not too much later, when the autumn weather
would make traveling on the roads difficult (“distant”). / Pp. 377w, in the name of Chief
Rabbi Yitzhag-Isaac Herzog 4 See the beginning of this excursus. * Pp. 162-169 * Pp. 158
and 192 * Confusion reigns as to the exact date of the opening of the rabbinical seminary (2
02297 W), Etkes Book'(p. 161) gives 5608 as the year; Jacob Mark (pp. 81-82) sets the
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proven, ibid.#, that R’ Yisrael left Vilna no later than December
1848 (but more likely in November because by mid-December an-

inauguration year in “1845”; 7773 73p» (op. cit., Ch. 1, the first paragraph of Exc. B), p. 1084,
sets the date as “(1845) 770" a scholarly article entitled Mm% 0121? WIIn N°a”, by AN
p¥Iv0, in (1'OR UR) T MM 72Y7, gives an exact day, namely, “19 Heshvan 5608
(23.10.1847)”. The last probably got this supposedly accurate date from the sycophantic booklet
7737 7125 (“Vilna, 1858 n7»”), by Tax»M2 2py> (“one of the rabbinical candidates completing
his program of studies in the tenth form”), but realized that the day given there, viz., “in the
year 5607 (1847 cE)... 19th of Heshvan, which is the 23rd of October”, did not tally because
Heshvan of 5607 was in 1846, not 1847, and considering the given common-era year to be the
accurate one, P10 AN changed TIX772’s Hebrew year from 5607 to 5608 without realizing
that the duy, as well as the year, needed correction! A calendar check for all the possibilities —
of Etkes, Mark, Epstein, °p¥1%0 and TRYM, including erroneous transpositions of
Hebrew/common-era years — shows the incongruency between 19 Heshvan and October 23 O.S.
(equaling November 4 N.S.). Starting from TIRY’s secular date, October 23 O.S., it parallels
4 Heshvan in 1845; 15 Heshvan in 1846; 25 Heshvan in 1847; and the Sabbath, 8 Heshvan, in
1848. 1f we start from 7IRYM3’s Hebrew date, 19 Heshvan, it parallels November 7 O.S. in 5606;
Sunday, October 27 O.S., in 5607; Friday, October 17 O.S., in 5608; and November 3 O.S. in
5609. This author has inserted the days of the week into three of the above dates to indicate that
these dates ought to be completely discounted because they were inappropriate for a celebration
in which Jews and (lehavdil) Christian officials participated. Because of both 738%113’s personal
involvement in the rabbinical seminary and the publication year of his booklet — in contrast to
the other sources cited for the date of the seminary’s establishment — it may be assumed that his
stated year of the institution’s inauguration is reliable. We may therefore conclude that the only
possible years (after factoring in the Hebrew/common-era transposition error) are 5607-1846 or
5608-1847 — and the days coming into consideration are either 15 Heshvan 5607 (October 23
0.S., 1846) or 25 Heshvan 5608 (October 23 O.S., /1847). Having now proven that T3X>™13 was
more accurate in his non-Jewish day, we can assume that he was likewise more attentive to the
non-Jewish vear. This should not be at all surprising for a student at an institution where “they
(were) accomplished only in foreign languages and science subjects, while the subjects that
concern us as Jews, (were) not considered, or taken into account, nor (did) they enter the mind
at all” (from a contemporary quotation cited in the *p¥1%0 article). (Also cf. m177°2 7550777 Ay1n
/77077, by the same author [775wn ,0o%wr ,P2XIw n n™wo nn mandl, p. 84, which quotes a
poem from [RWIRN] /772970757, by [”ﬂ‘?DWu‘IH TMNMWRRY] PRI pnye — he emigrated to
America in 5653 [1893] — which expresses the all-out disappointment of the [minimally religious
and honest] maskilim when it declares, ’ym » nY1? AKX ..APTRP MY WY 0 W D7
132% DY WRD XY RY 7778 37 g8 *3 100 [The rabbinical seminary from which we had hoped
for great things... showed how misled we were, for not even one rabbi of whom we approve
issued from it (emphasis added)].) Thus, 73%7’s 1790 should have been n”an, making 5608
(1847) the year of the establishment of the institute. Similarly, well-researched sources, namely,
J7PD113 TOYpY N7 1019, by (1”'7!"'\ ,ID DVODIAMMIR DRXIT) LMW ‘DR""ITV, on p. 20, and
Etkes Book, on p. 161, give the date as 71847 1210pR” and "N 0", respectively; and this should
be assumed to be the correct one. (2% /71791 [op. cit., Ch. 1, n. 1] Vol. I, p. 178, giving the
year as *1848=n"1n”, made the same type of error as TIX?12 — but, naturally, its author got the
Hebrew year right but juxtaposed it to the wrong C.E. year! It should have read “1847=n"n".)
The exact day when the Rabbinical Seminary of Vilna was established, then, is 25 Heshvan 5608
(October 23 O.S., 1847), a Thursday. (7382773 must have gotten to the faulty 19 Heshvan/October
23 equation in one of two ways: when writing [in 5618 (1858)] about an event in 5608 [1847],

NOTES AND EXCURSUSES 5.1(2) / EXCURSUS B -#1123#

other individual had already been appointed to the post for which
the Salanter had been slated), just 13 months after the founding of
the seminary. It is illogical that so soon after the seminary’s open-
ing he would fall into such dangerous disfavor with the authorities
for refusing to serve on its staff that he would be compelled to flee
the city. Besides, since the school was launched with three primary
grades (beginning with 10-year-olds!), in which the only Oral Law
(7o %vaw 7mn) taught was Mishnayoth, and the second year of its
operation saw the addition of grades 4 and 5, in which only rudi-
mentary Gemara was taughtv, R’ Yisrael, a gaon and not a simple
Gemara teacher, had a perfect excuse not to take a post in a school
with such an elementary Talmud program®. Moreover, the
Salanter was not the only one to be offered the post and turn it
down. 7777 m3pp* states, “The geonim R’ Ya‘aqov Barrit, R’ Yisrael

he followed, for an unknown reason, a calendar for the year 5610 [1849-50], which was the only
year before the publication date appearing on the title page of his booklet since 5564 [1803]]!],
when the two dates corresponded; or — strangely, but not as farfetched — the booklet was printed
not in “5618, 1858”, as its title page claims, but three years later, in 5621 [1860-61], when the
two dates coincided again. According to the second option, the author simply consulted a calendar
which was current at the time of the booklet’s publication without stopping to investigate how the
two dates had correlated 13 years earlier! The reason why an earlier publication date was given
on the title page may be connected with some czarist censorship quirk, or with a feature in 2py
TIR?X's personal career. [This author was unable to discover more about this author, but there
is a ~7IXkY 1" who was magistrate of 795w *%¥°di M3 and later rabbi of Odessa, as per
Jacob Mark, p. 279.] Perhaps the anti-government activities which led to the closing of the
seminary in 5632 [1872] — see below — had already begun to surface by 5621 [1860-1861], and
a publication extolling the questionable institution would not be sanctioned; by having the author
date the booklet three yeurs earlier, when the seminary was still considered loyal, the censor was
able to give his imprimatur. This finding about the publication’s predating may serve the historian
who researches why the propaganda piece emerged altogether 11 [or 14] years before the
government closed the seminary down.) “P. 191, n. 1 ¢ Cf. the "p¥1%D article and /7797 7195
(pp- 42-43), bothicited in fn. £ preceding. “ R’ Zvi-Hirsh Ferber, whose wife was a
granddaughter of K* Yisrael’s brother, writing on pp. 3%-3% of J7% e (op. cir, Ch. 1, n. 11),
errs chronologically when he connects the offer to the Salanter with the time when “even the
supporters of the rabbinical seminary admitted that the students were boors and dolts whose sole
interest was their secular degrees... and seeing that the heart of the entire G-d-fearing (*17m) public
had turned away from them, they contrived varied tricks and enlisted the power of the regime to
draw” R’ Yisrael in. Another blatant chronological mistake, ibidem, pp. 72-3%, is R’ Ferber’s
connection between the establishment of the Kovno Kolel and the Salanter’s presence in Nevyazzer
Kloiz; the first occurred in 5637 (1877), and the second lasted six years two decades earlier, from
5611 (1851) till 5617 (1857). Also cf. Ch. 4, the second paragraph of Exc. G, where this author
expounds an error R’ Ferbfr made in his understanding of a conversation with a great kabalist.
* Op. cit., Ch. 1, the first paragraph of Exc. B — p. 1084
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Salanter, R> Shmuel Shtrashun, and others turned down the offer
because they knew what kind of seeds the government wanted to
plant in the field of these [seminaries] and what crop it intended to
harvesty” — yet the other candidates did not flee*.

(7772 mpo reveals that R’ Ya‘aqov Barrit — who was the rebbi of
the two brothers who later held rabbinical posts in Vilna, R’
Betzalel haKohen and R’ Shlomo haKohen, and of the Chafetz-
Chaim as a youth® — was invited to take the post at the rabbinical
seminary and turned it down because he suspected, as did the other
leading scholars who were offered the position, that the basic pur-
pose for which the government had established the seminaries in
Vilna and Zhitomir was to undermine the Jewish faith’. This read-
ing of R’ Barrit’s attitude toward the institution is in conflict with
the testimony of one of its students, R’ Barrit’s nephew nvow .1.n,
that “not only was he not an enemy of the rabbinical seminaries,
but he even advised youths who asked his opinion to attend
them”e. A biographical booklet on R’ Barrit, 375 mrond, by his
son, vAxa X7 7wn, also reports that the rav tested the seminarians
“for ordination as ‘oyvm 27 [government rabbi]’, as well as on other
subjects at other times of the year” — which indicates close cooper-
ation with the seminary administration. But the autobiography of
Elyaqum Tzunzers seemingly proves that 772 7p» was right. It
maintains that it was a retort to General Popatov, the governor of
the Vilna Gubernia, by R’ Ya‘aqov Barrit — or, as he was also
known, R’ Yankalleh Kovner ~ that led to the shutting down of the
Vilna institution. After the police swooped down on 40 young
Jews and arrested them as Nihilists in 5632 [1872], the general
called in several prominent Jews, R’ Ya‘agqov among them, to cas-
tigate them for educating their young people to be unfaithful to the
czar. R” Barrit replied that only as a result of the Russian govern-

Y See the end of this paragraph for specifics about the government’s intentions. * 7772 737, p.
1108, atiempts to rationalize the difference in how the various candidates reacted by describing
the Salanter unconvincingly as “a man with a frightened heart (131 a%)” and more susceptible to
pressure.  “ Per /77103, p. 2 £ See the end of this paragraph that when secret government
papers were released in 5626 (1866) it came to light that this was precisely the government’s
intention. ¢ P. 257 of (N”2wn 7K) "1 NN , 737 in an article entitled “IDINRVIX 12V
nroam e w7, by M .2 d yyan x> ¢ Published in ™M T2 21 OWINY DYOK
(op. cit., Ch. 2, n. 4)
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ment’s getting involved in Jewish education did such a thing hap-
pen. Transmission of this reply to St. Petersburg resulted in the
summary closure of the two Russian rabbinical seminaries, in Vilna
and in Zhitomir, in the same year, 5632 [1872]. It is of course pos-
sible that R’ Ya‘aqov became disenchanted with the seminary —
and possibly figured out why the government had established such
schools — sometime later than when his nephew was in attendance.
Furthermore, perhaps R’ Barrit’s observation of how adversely the
school had affected his nephew was what brought the rav around
to this realization! But this still does not account for R’ Ya‘akov’s
son writing after his father’s death of his positive relationship with
the seminary without the caveat that he later changed his mind.
7792 1320’s alleged reason for his turning down the Seminary post —
which was offered as soon as the facility was established — also re-
mains contradicted by R’ Barrit’s nephew’s testimony about his
uncle’s support of the institution, at least initially.)

If the purpose of R’ Yisrael’s move to Kovno was to escape the
heavy hand of the government, he gained nothing by moving from
one city to another under the same regime. If, however, as claimed
by our protagonist, the Yom Kippur events were the cause of the
Salanter’s relocation, both the move itself and its time frame make
good sense — especially in view of another detail which my father
related/. He was introduced to a fifth-generation descendantd of R’
Laiballeh Shapirol; and exclaimed, “This warms the cockles of my
heart! I learned with your father in Slabodka; and what a ‘iluy he
was! Your progenitor R’ Laiballeh was an opponent of Musar{ —
and I shall tell you how opponents of Musar acted at that time.
When R’ Yisrael Salanter wanted to move to Kovno, he asked
permission from the newly appointed R’ Laiballeh. The latter re-
sponded that if R’ Yisrael was willing to take on a rabbinic ap-
pointment he could come — but he could not stay in Kovno
unemployed/. R’ Laiballeh then married off a son, and R’ Yisrael

f During his last visit to Israel, in Sivan 5742 (June 1982) 9 R’ Moshe Karlinsky, interviewed
December 26, 1986 kcf. ch, 3, nn. 15 and 35. ¢ Cf. Karz 1, p. 181, that R* Shapiro would
send R’ Yehoshua‘-Heshil of Yaneveh, a brilliant orator, to preach in the batei midrash where
R’ Yisrael had spoken,.in order to refute his words. /Cf. ibid., pp. 179-180, on why R’
Laiballeh made such a condition. During the eight years R’ Yisrael remained in Kovno, he served



#1126 Making of a Godol

did not receive an invitation. The latter was in a dilemma: if he
were to stay away from the wedding, he would be disgracing the
Rav; but were he to attend, he might be perpetrating an act of
thievery. He concluded that inasmuch as ordinary Jews, includ%ng
the poor of the city, were given some delicacies from the wedding
— these were distributed to everyone — he would attend and partake
only of what was set out for the general public. At the we(.iding,
R’ Laiballeh noticed that R* Yisrael was restrained in partaking of
the repast. R’ Shapiro immediately suspected what was a@s§ and
asked his shamosh whether he had invited R’ Yisrael. Receiving a
negative reply [“Why have the musarnik here?!’], the rav objecteﬁi,
‘But I had told you to invite him!” This,” concluded my father, “is
a portrait of [the gentle spirit of] the Musar opponents qf yore.”
According to our protagonist, it was in consequence of his show-
down with the Vilna beth din that R’ Yisrael decided it was inde-
corous for him to remain in that city — and perhaps the beth din
expressed displeasure with him at some occasion sometime after
the Yom Kippur event — and he wrote to R’ Laiballeh asking f(?r
permission to move to Kovno. The correspondence and the techni-
cal arrangements took up a number of weeks and the move to
Kovno took place in Heshvan (November) or Kislev (December)g.

Regarding the relationship between the Rav of Kovno and t.he
new arrival in the city, R’ Yisrael Shurin said/ that at a family
brith, R’ Laiballeh told the participants not to begin the ceremony
until R’ Yisrael Salanter came. Although the audience believed
that R’ Yisrael would not attend his opponent’s affair, R’
Laiballeh was proven right when the Salanter showed up a few
minutes later. Also cf. Ch. 1, the end of the second paragraph of
Exc. B, about a time when R’ Laiballeh did not want to be visited
by R’ Yisrael. (An interesting comment possibly ascribed to R’
Laiballeh sheds light on how he viewed another religious move-
ment. In the Broda Correspondence™ the author reminisces, “I re-
call from the time I was a boy when I was privileged to serve the

H ot g d
as city public speaker (an unde-ﬁned p?btmg/; - see below from Etke;lB:)ok)' forJ::;ro g;al‘lsggx; ;?
rosh yeshiva in Nevyazzer Kloiz for six. See p. 1121, above. ' nterview July 27, .
Shurin heard this from R’ Nota Bialik(-Bilitzky). " Ch. 3, the third paragraph of Exc. N
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gaon, the faultless rzaddiqg [omm p=3] R’ Avraham-Shmuel of
Rassein, y~1 [may his merit protect us]”, for about two and a half
years, and more than a few times I heard his holy mouth com-
plaining about the Musar movement, which had only started in his
days. I do not remember clearly whether he said this on his own,
or, it seems, in the name of the gaon R’ Laiballeh Shapiro of
Kovno, n7nbbxr [may his memory be blessed for life in the future
world], =1, in these words: The hasidim of Zhamut [the
Musarites] will do more harm and be more destructive to us in
days to come than the hasidim of Galicia [the Hasidic movement],
and we will have to suffer and be afflicted by them.”) Also cf.
Etkes Booke as to the nature of the Salanter’s initial appointment
in Kovno, and the reason he left the post after a short while. At
first, he was put “in charge of matters that pertain to Fear of
G-d”f, delivering learned and rousing speeches week by week
throughout the city, but at the beginning of the following decade,
when R’ Laiballeh realized that this approach to Fear of G-d was
unconventional, i.e., the Musar derekh, he forced R’ Yisrael to re-
sign. R’ Laiballeh’s opposition to Musar then became a matter of
public record and reached such an intensity that it prompted
his shamosh to highhandedly not invite “the musarnik” to R’

Laiballeh’s son’s wedding in contravention of the rav’s express or-

ders. Accordingly, the story of this undelivered invitation must
have occurred in 5612 (1852), the last year of R’ Laiballeh’s life

and five-year tenure in Kovnog.

We may conjecture that the plebeian tendency — like Jacob
Mark’s, as mentioned above — to revise the shocking story of R’

¥

" He was a talmid of R’ Elinkeh Ragoler (cf. Ch. 3, n. 10), as was R’ Laiballeh Shapiro. ° Pp.
192-193 and 213-214 / Quoted from p. xii of the biographical introduction to 3777 59 (op.
cit., Ch. 2, the twenty-fourth paragraph of Exc. A) 9 Also cf. the biographical introduction to
257 523w, p. xiii, which states, “After a long time [o%%7 m393] a tremendous dichotomy
developed between the gaon R’ Laiballeh Shapiro and the gaon R’ Yisrael Salanter because of
the differences in their nawre and their methods of study.” Emphasis has been added to three
points in this statement which are incorrect; the two opponents were together in Kovno for only
five years; the difference in nature, whatever it was, was not relevant to their dispute about what
was correct Jewish religiosity — see the statement of R’ Avraham-Shmuel of Rassein quoted
above; and different methods of study (of the Talmud) were not, and have never been, grounds
for disputes among Torah leaders.
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Yisrael’s eating on Yom Kippur necessitated the invention in non-
rabbinic circles of an alternative cause for the Salanter’s move to
Kovno. The Salanter’s vehement opposition to the concept of rab-
binical seminaries (demonstrated categorically in the last half-year
of his life when the establishment of a new one was considered®)
provided the plausible alibi. It is also to be conjectured that if in
regard to R’ Ya‘aqov Barrit, who was a sedate Vilna scholar, there
are conflicting testimonies about his relationship to the rabbinical
seminary, as above, there surely might have been moot opinions
on how the institution was viewed by the Salanter, the man with
such unconventional ideas as sending falmidim to universities*. To
assure that the Salanter’s opposition to the rabbinical seminary be
unequivocally clear, word had to be spread in rabbinic circles that
he went to extremes to avoid any identification with it. Thus both
rabbinic and non-rabbinic circles joined in spreading the false rea-
son for R’ Yisrael’s “escape” to Kovno. This reason, despite its
logical shortcomings, may have already been put forth by R’ Yis-
rael’s adherents at the time of his move to Kovno. He himself had
no interest in denying the fictitious cause, because flaunting the
true reason, i.e., that he was at odds with the Vilna rabbinical es-
tablishment, could only make him look suspicious in his newly
chosen domicile, where he needed to engage some public post, as
stipulated by R’ Laiballeh’s residency permission. This explains
why R’ Yehonathan Eliasberg also erred in writing? — some 40
years later* — that R’ Yisrael fold his father when making the ar-
rangements for the move to Kovno that the rabbinical seminary
was the cause. It is suggested that R’ Eliasberg, son of the man re-
sponsible for arranging the Salanter’s salary in Kovno, innocently
embellished the conversation between the two in which, if the
seminary was indeed mentioned, R’ Yisrael did not say he had left
Vilna because of the seminary, but did not correct the Kovno lead-
er’s (wrong) assumption.

* Cf. Katz 1, pp. 238-241; Etkes Book, pp. 295-305; Ch. 3, the end of the first paragraph of Exc.
P; and Ch. 4, the second paragraph of Exc. H. * Cf. Ch. 3, Exc. S. ‘P. xii in the biographical
introduction to his father’s 3777 2w “ 3717 2w was published in 5657 (1897), but was
written at least six years earlier.
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Another, albeit weak proof that the seminary offer was not the
cause of his departure from Vilna may be seen in the fact that R’
Yisrael was secretive about why he left. This is indicated in J101
2py»¢ where the author reports, “In one of my conversations with R’
Yisrael*, I asked him... if he had additional, more hidden reasons
and rationalizations for which he did not want to accept this post —
besides the basic reason that the foundation of the institution was
based only on the power of the non-Jewish director. He replied
with serious mien (emphasis added), ‘If it were worthwhile for the
G-d-fearers [0v11n] to take these houses under their supervision and
leadership, then R’ David* of Bikhov would be more proper and
capable than I’ I saw that it was his holy wish not to talk about this
anymore, so I desisted.” Significantly, R’ Yisrael did not reply that
he had turned down the post because there was a more fitting indi-
vidual to take it on. He only offered his opinion about his eligibility
for the post in a hypothetical situation in which the G-d-fearing
community would be running the seminary. With the emphasized
words, R’ Ya‘aqov Halevi Lipschitz seems to want to bring out that
despite the hypothetical nature of R’ Yisrael’s response — R’
Lipschitz realized that the Salanter was not answering his question
but merely theorizing — the Salanter maintained a “serious mien”.
R’ Yisrael responded evasively to the (false) assumption that his
exit from Vilna was connected with the offer at the seminary, simi-
larly to the way he reacted when R’ Eliasberg’s father made the
same mistakey.

The hypothesis that the Salanter left Vilna because of the semi-
nary offer became firmly rooted when the maskilim, looking for a
scapegoat on which to blame the failure of the original rabbinical
facility, claimed that had he taken on the position, the institution
would have succeeded. Cf. 77»wn-0797> where a writer (who had
studied in Volozhin for a year and was generally favorably dis-

YOp.cit,Ch. 1,n. 1 - Vol. I, p. 176 It took place in the summer of 5642 (1882), a half-year
before the Salanter’s demise, per 33 77901, Vol. 111, pp. 125-127. This is over three decades
after R* Salanter left Vilna. * Luria, known by the acronym Radal Y Also cf. ibid., p. 177,
that R. Yisrael gave another questioner, Doctor of Philosophy Zvi-Hirsh Aptheker-Shaphir of
Kovno, a different evasive answer to the same essential query. Cf. Ch. 4, the second paragraph
of Exc. H, for details. *P. 65
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posed to the Yeshiva), o">» (pen name for °poayr1a Rov n:vr?),
makes this claim in response to the Netziv’s argument that the fail-
ure of the rabbinical seminaries militated against the introduction
of secular studies in the Yeshiva. Also cf. w72, which states’ in
an article by rowmya Yxw- entitled “n%wa 9an% (Speeding Redemp-
tion)”, “The wise men of the generation [ *non, maskilim] con-
sidered [the rejection of the post] a criminal transgression [*2"%p ]
by R’ Yisrael.” The maskilim conveniently overlooked the Rpssian
government’s objective in founding the rabbinical seminaries, as
spelled out in Minister of Religions and Culture Uvarov’s memo-
randum to Czar Nikolai I — which became publice in 5626 (1866),
14 years before pwwrva’s article was published. The memoran-
dum reads, “Via the rabbis graduating from the rabbinical semina-
ries the Jews will disdain the Talmud, which is the obstacle stand-
ing in the way of their converting to Christianity.‘{” The maskilim
were angrier with R* Yisrael than with the others who turned
down the post — “R’ Ya‘aqov Barrit... R’ Shmuel Shtrashun, and
others,” as cited from 77722 737 on p. 1123, above — because after
considering him one of their kind, as in Ch. 3, the second para-
graph of Exc. S (p. 555), their disappointment with him was chan-
neled into hostility.
§ the third paragraph
a possible reason why the Koidanover hasidim opposed R’ Yisrael
Salanter — R’ Shlomo of Karlin refuses treatment of his
Cossack-inflicted wound on Shabbos — Zhelikhov is a
refuge for persecuted hasidim — our protagonist’s

grandson marries the Koidanover Rebbe’s
great-grandson’s granddaughter

To shed light on the terms my father used in the Salanter Inter-
view regarding the Belorussian hasidic rebbes, as quoted on p.
1104, above, the Koidanover Rebbe at the time of Vilna’s cholera
epidemic was the first of the Koidanover line, R’ Shlomo-Hayyim
Perlov (5557-5622 (1797-1862]), son of R’ Aharon, son of R’
Mordkhai of Lekhovich (5502-5570 [1742-1810]). R’ Shlomo-

“o7n L1y bp o33 Among ministry papers covering the years 1814-1864 — see Ch. 2,
the twentieth paragraph of Exc. A. 4 See 7773 7322, pp. 107271%pn.
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Hayyim was only nine when his father died and was raised by the
father of his mother, Pearls, R’ Asher (the First) of Stolin (5520-
5586 [1760-1826]), son of R’ Aaron (the Great) of Karlin (5496-
5532 [1736-1772]). R’ Asher, having also been orphaned as a
youngster, was raised by a prime talmid of his father (and just two
years younger), R’ Shlomo of Karlin (5498-5552 [1738-1792)]),
whose disciple was R’ Mord- khai of Lekhovich. It is to be con-
jectured that since, according to criticism by R’ Shnayor-Zalman
of Liadi (5507-5573 [1747-1813]), R’ Shlomo was “denigrating
the lomdim (o nx Yown)” or, at least, “not honoring the
lomdim (o w%n nx 7200 89)”f, he may have passed on this tradition
to his ward R’ Asher, who handed it down to his ward and grand-
son, the Koidanover Rebbe. The tradition may likewise have been
reinforced by the Koidanover Rebbe’s paternal grandfather, who
was a disciple of R’ Shlomo, as mentioned.9 This attitude toward
Torah scholars may have aroused R’ Yisrael’s “great opposition”
to R” Shlomo-Hayyim, which my father guessed was at the root of
the Rebbe’s alleged curse.

It may be, however, that R’ Yisrael had done nothing to pro-
voke the ire of these hasidim other than to eat on Yom Kippur. It
stands to reason that they would be particularly incensed by the
Salanter’s “desecration” of Yom Kippur because 56 years earlier,
R’ Shlomo had not permitted anyone to desecrate the Sabbath on
his behalf when he was shot by a Cossack, and as a result died
five days laters. The real reason for his refusal to be medically
treated on Shabbath may have been simply because he misjudged
the seriousness of his wound — a fallibility which hasidim dis-
dained to ascribe to their rebbe. They saw him instead¢ as waiting
to be martyred, like the Tanna Rabbi ‘Aqiva/, or destined to be

“ Hence the family name Perlov f The two versions are recorded, respectively, in 7¥7 777, by
WAYYDRP IR YR°Mp> 1 (published 37wn WPIVD) - pp. RYPYp, and in 7500 175y no3, by
(X9p) *9xW> 2py (further: *5X707) — p. 8. 9 Also cf. 1 93,0 A, SN pran o payp
(373w I"R710°), pp. 20pP"Np, where an article by W wrar onnax traces the difference of opinion
between R’ Shnayor-Zalman and R’ Shlomo on how to treat the mithnagdim — the “lomdim
(learners)” whom the hasidim derogatively nicknamed “lomchukhes” — to an earlier generation of
hasidim. Cf. *5X72%, p. 29p, and an article by MW whar onaR in , 5% fIIN n7o yap
(MWD IIRTVIAW) 3 10 T W, p.wp. C BN, p. np /37y 370 npma £ As per sources
in SX7 pax 123 P33P in the issues preceding and succeeding 3 11°%3, quoted above (fn. /)



